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City of Biloxi, Mississippi

Listing of City Officials as of September 30, 2019
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Councilman Ward 5........c.ccocveviieiiiinieeiieiece e Paul A. Tisdale
Councilman Ward 6 ............oooovieeviieeiiieeeee e Kenny Glavan
Councilman Ward 7 ........ccoveeviiioiiieceeee e Nathan Barrett
Appointed Officials
City CLerK....oovieiiiiiieeie ettt Stacy Thacker
Chief Administrative Officer........ccccoceevviievieriiiecieeieeeeeen E. Michael Leonard
Director of Administration..........cc.ceeeveeveerieeniienienieeeeee. Kenneth McKeown
Director of Police Department.........c.ccoceevuerieneenenieneennene John Miller
Director of Fire Department ............cccceveeeerieniienieniieieenee. Joe Boney
Director of Public WOrks .........ccceeviievieeiiieniieieeieceeeeene Billy Ray Allen
Director of Community Development ...........cccceeevveeenneennnee. Jerry Creel
Director of Parks and Recreation.........c..ccceecveneencnicnecnncnne. Cheryl Bell

Director of Legal........cocieiiiiiiiiiiieiieeieeeeeeeeee e Peter Abide
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Mayor

Andrew “FoFo” Gilich 140 Lameuse Street

P.O. Box 429
City Council Biloxi, MS 39533
George Lawrence, Ward 1 www.biloxi.ms.us

Felix O. Gines, Ward 2

Dixie Newman, Ward 3 d d
Robert L. Deming Ill, Ward 4
Paul A. Tisdale, Ward 5

Kenny Glavan, Ward 6 :
Nathan Barrett, Ward 7 established 1699

FROM THE MAYOR'’S DESK:

The City of Biloxi fiscal year ending on September 30, 2019 has continued a period of steady growth.
The General Fund ending balance showed an increase over the prior year. Solid budget control allowed
both the General Fund and Water/Sewer fund revenues to exceed expenses for the period. We
experienced a modest increase in both casino and sales tax revenues. Ad Valorem tax collection also
saw a modest increase as many new homes and business came on line during the year.

The City’s bond rating remained an excellent AA (-) and available debt service revenue allowed the City
to sell a $14 Million Series 2019 General Obligation Bond which was put to work immediately through a
series of capital projects ranging from roadway paving throughout the City to new construction and
upgrade of a public facilities.

The revitalization of Howard Avenue and downtown Biloxi received a boost from a housing incentive
program that encouraged construction of new residential housing in the downtown planning district.
Across the City 770 new residential home construction permits were issued and 182 certificates of
occupancy were issued for new homes.

During the year we moved closer to completing the first phase of the massive federally-funded
infrastructure project that is bringing new utilities, drainage and paving to 55 miles of streets in the City.
Work north of the railroad in east Biloxi and south of the railroad in central Biloxi will soon be
completed, setting the table for more economic growth and an improved quality of life in our City.

Using a host of federal and state grants, and in cooperation with Harrison County, we are embarking on
a program that will revitalize our waterfront and marinas. A beautiful new pedestrian cross walk was
completed at the Small Craft Harbor as was the East Biloxi Living Shoreline walkway. These were just
two of many projects completed or in planning to allow our residents and visitors to enjoy a unique
waterfront experience.

I’'m proud to say that our City has continued to be served by the best-trained and best-equipped Police
and Fire Departments in the state. In the past year, the City increased staffing of our police department
putting additional patrol and investigative officers on the street. Those efforts led to fewer burglaries,
robberies, assaults and other violent crime. The construction of two new fire stations were completed,
along with a fire training tower. These facilities, along with investment in new fire department personal
protective equipment, should improve our already excellent fire insurance rating.

| firmly believe that our best and most exciting days continue to be ahead.

Sincerely,

Andrew "FoFo"
Mayor
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June 5, 2020

Mayor and City Council
City of Biloxi, Mississippi

We are pleased to submit the Comprehensive Annual Financial Report of the City of Biloxi (municipal
government and its component unit) for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019. The Administration of the
City of Biloxi is responsible for the information presented in this report. We believe that the accompanying
information is accurate and complete and fairly presents the financial position of the municipal government of
the City of Biloxi as of September 30, 2019 and results of operations for the fiscal year then ended.

Control Environment

The City’s management is responsible for maintaining a system of internal controls sufficient to provide
reasonable assurance that City assets are safeguarded from loss and that financial transactions are recorded
timely and accurately. Reasonable assurance means that internal controls are selected or designed to reduce the
risk of asset loss or inaccurate bookkeeping to an acceptable level, considering the constraint that the cost of the
control should not exceed the expected benefit. Management is responsible for communicating the purpose and
importance of internal controls to employees and for providing the resources necessary to establish and maintain
the control system.

Budgetary Controls

Prior to the beginning of each fiscal year, each department director prepares a projection of expenditures
for his department. The City’s budget staff develops a projection of revenues for all funds and a projection of
the expenditures not included in the departmental budgets. The revenue projections and proposed expenditures
are presented to the Mayor. After reviewing the draft budget proposal, the Mayor will meet with department
directors to discuss their budget requests. Each director must justify their department’s budget request by
explaining the cost of the programs they propose for the coming year. When the Mayor is satisfied that the
proposed budget conforms to the objectives and goals he has set for the coming year, the entire budget proposal
is presented to the City Council. During a series of budget workshops, the City Council will review, discuss,
question, and debate the proposed budget and make modifications to it. The Council will invite public comment
on the taxing and spending plan at a special public hearing.



Following these workshops, the Council will adopt and publish the proposed budget if the
revenue projections are sound and the proposed spending is necessary to provide the level of services to
accomplish the program goals and capital improvements. After adopting the budget for the coming year
the City Council will set the property tax rate at a level that will generate the property tax revenue
necessary to raise the budgeted ad valorem tax revenue.

Mississippi law prohibits spending in excess of the budget formally adopted by the City Council
and spread upon the Council’s minutes. The formal budget adopted by the Council sets a limit for total
expenditures for each department. For management and control purposes, a budget with greater detail is
utilized by City management personnel to monitor spending. For this purpose, the total budget of each
department is spread to the expenditure accounts of each department's various divisions and sections.
Programmatic constraints within the City’s computerized purchasing system prohibit unauthorized
purchases in excess of the budget at the expenditure account level.

The City utilizes an encumbrance accounting system in monitoring spending. An encumbrance
system provides for charges against the budget at the time goods or services are ordered rather than
waiting until the invoice is received or the payment is made.

Independent Audit

In accordance with Section 21-35-31, Miss Code of 1972 and guidelines prescribed by the State
Auditor, the financial statements presented herein have been audited by Piltz, Williams, LaRosa & Co.,
an independent firm of Certified Public Accountants. The objective of the auditor’s work is to provide
the auditor with a basis upon which to express an opinion on the fairness of the City’s financial
statements. The auditor’s opinion is included in the financial section of this report. The auditor’s work
involves examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management and
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.

State Department of Audit regulations require the independent auditor to disclose any instance of
non-compliance with certain state laws, that may come to their attention during the audit of the City’s
financial statements. The auditor must test for non-compliance with federal requirements applicable to
each major federal program under which the City of Biloxi receives federal financial assistance.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis follows the opinion of the independent auditor and
provides a narrative overview and analysis of the basic financial statements.

Profile of the City of Biloxi (The Reporting Entity)

The City of Biloxi, Mississippi was incorporated in 1838. Biloxi is located in Harrison County,
and its southern corporate boundary is the Gulf of Mexico. Biloxi is part of the Biloxi, Gulfport,
Pascagoula Combined Statistical Area (MSA). This area has a diverse economic base which includes
tourism, casino gaming, fishing, seafood processing, shipping, shipbuilding, and petroleum and chemical
processing. Keesler Air Force Base, Naval Construction Battalion Center-Gulfport and Huntington-
Ingalls Shipbuilding’s Pascagoula facility are located within this Combined Statistical Area. The City of
Biloxi’s employees provide a full range of services to the City’s citizens and visitors including planning
and zoning, police and fire protection, culture and recreation, infrastructure maintenance, water and
sanitation.



This report includes all funds of the City of Biloxi and any entity that management has
determined to be a component unit of the City of Biloxi municipal government. Component units are
entities for which the primary government (the City) is financially accountable and other entities whose
relationship with the City is such that its exclusion would create misleading or incomplete financial
information. The Point Cadet Development Corporation, a non-profit organization, is blended in the
financial statements of the City of Biloxi as a proprietary fund.

Long-Term Financial Planning

The City ended fiscal 18/19 with a General Fund balance of $15.3 million, which is adequate for
the City. The City’s general fund balance increased by $466,807 (page 26 on a modified accrual basis
and $177,882 (page 73) on a budget basis for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.

Local Economy and Relevant Financial Policies

The City’s governing authority increased water and sewer rates each of the last three fiscal years
and another one is scheduled for October of 2019. In fiscal year 2019, Operating income was a net
positive. The City’s governing authority has committed to annual reviews of its public utility fee
structure with the goal of continuing to stabilize its Water and Sewer Enterprise Fund.

The City has not changed its ad valorem tax rate since fiscal year 2001 when it decreased the rate
by 34.8 percent. The City has experienced an upturn in the economy during the past year. Many new
businesses and startups joined in on this market. As shown in Figure 1 below, the City’s ad valorem tax
revenue and sales tax revenue remained about the same, while gaming increased by over $1.2 million.
This stabilization and increase occurred despite anticipated revenue loss from the opening of the Bonnet
Carré Spillway during the peak tourism months.



The following charts disclose financial data for the City’s governmental funds including the
General Fund, Special Revenue, Capital Projects Funds and Debt Service Funds.
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The amount of construction and reconstruction in fiscal 18/19 increased slightly over fiscal 17/18
and is still below post-Katrina peak in 06/07 as measured by the number and value of building permits
issued. The City 3,676 building permits with a total valuation of $88,398,680. (Fig. 2).
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Governmental funds are used to account for most City functions and operations including the
various City departments, the City’s two closed retirement plans, Community Development Block
Grants, capital projects, and the City’s general obligation debt payments. Figure 3 illustrates the relative
amounts of various general governmental revenues for the fiscal year. Usually, the City’s three largest
sources of operating revenues for general governmental activities are gaming tax, ad valorem tax and
sales tax.
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Gaming tax and sales tax are shown separately here but are included in the City’s governmental
funds financial statements on the line titled “Intergovernmental Revenues”. Intergovernmental revenues
are collected by other governmental entities such as state government and distributed to the City. Other
Intergovernmental Revenue includes other taxes collected by Harrison County and the State of
Mississippi and state and federal grants.

Property Taxes - In Mississippi, property taxes are levied by municipalities and counties on the
assessed value of land and buildings, mobile homes, automobiles, business inventory and equipment.
Assessed value is a prescribed percentage of the true (appraised) value of each class of property. Classes
of property and assessment ratios are defined in Section 112 of the Mississippi Constitution of 1890.

Class of Property Ratio
Class I  Single-family, owner-occupied, residential real 10%
Class II  All other real property, except Class I or IV 15%
Class III Personal property, except motor vehicles and Class [V 15%
Class IV Public Utility property 30%
Class V. Motor vehicles 30%



Ad valorem taxes are collected in arrears. The taxes for a calendar tax year are due by February
1 of the subsequent calendar year. Each year the governing authorities of the City of Biloxi determine
the total assessed value of property situated within the City limits. Prior to the beginning of a new fiscal
year, October 1, they set the tax rate (levy) that will generate the tax revenue needed for the upcoming
fiscal year. In each fiscal year, the City collects the ad valorem taxes for the prior calendar tax year. To
summarize, the formula for determining tax revenues from each class of property is “Appraised value X
assessment ratio X tax levy = tax amount”.

Sales Tax - State law requires sellers of goods and services to collect and remit to the state sales
taxes of various rates specified in the statutes. A tax rate of 7% applies to retail sales of tangible
personal property. Of the taxes collected by the state each month, 18.5% of the sales tax revenue from
activities within a municipal corporation is remitted to the municipal government.

Gaming Taxes - All taxes on gross gaming revenue and gaming devices are collected by the
State Tax Commission, including those taxes levied by municipalities. The Gaming control act of 1990
provided a tax of eight tenths of one percent (.8%) on casino gross gaming income. This tax revenue is
divided between Harrison County and the City in the proportion of the population of each.

House Bill 1504, Regular Session of 1992 (Local and Private Legislation) provided for a tax of
three and two tenths of one percent (3.2%) of gross gaming revenue. On the tenth day of each month the
State Tax Commission remits the taxes collected in the previous month to the City’s general fund which
is then distributed in the following ratios:

e 40% retained by general fund

e 20% for public safety

e 20% for education purposes (Biloxi sends this 20% to the Biloxi Public School District)

e 10% to Harrison County for public safety purposes

e 10% for educational purposes in Harrison County (This 10% is distributed to the various
school districts in Harrison County in the proportion of each district student enrollment to
total enrollment of all school districts in the county.)

House Bill 1504 also provided for a licensing fee of $150, annually, for each gaming device. In addition
to local taxes, the Mississippi Gaming Control Act, codified in chapter 76, in title 75 of the Mississippi
Code of 1972, provides that casinos pay a fee of 8% of gross gaming revenue to the State of Mississippi.

Figure 4 illustrates the trends in annual totals of revenue sources for the City’s governmental
funds. Casino gaming and the resulting gaming taxes were implemented in 1992, and since that time,
gaming tax revenues have become the largest, regular revenue source for the City.
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General Governmental Expenditures

Figure 5 illustrates the trends in spending for the various services and functions accounted for in
the City’s governmental funds. Normally, public safety and capital projects are the largest expenditure
categories of the City’s governmental funds.
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Water and Sewer Fund

The City of Biloxi provides water production and distribution and sewer collection and treatment
services. The City accounts for the cost of these services and related revenues in an enterprise fund.
The City’s goal is to pay the cost of the services with the revenue generated by billing customers for
their use of the service.

A large portion of the cost of water/sewer service is the City’s share of the debt service of the
Harrison County Utility Authority, which provides sewer treatment service. Because the debt service is
a “fixed” cost (does not vary due to the number of customers served) the City’s rates, applied to the
consumption of the reduced number of customers, did not generate sufficient revenue to cover the cost
of services in previous years. This changed in the current year. The City increased rates in fiscal years
2016,2017,2018, and in 2019. There is currently one more rate increase to go into effect beginning with
October of the next fiscal year. The City’s governing authority is committed to future rate adjustments in
order to balance the cost of constructing, repairing, and operating the water/sewer system.
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Respectfully submitted,

Zf/(/( Kémuuk

E.Michael Lveo'nard, Chief Administrative Officer

%ﬁ%ﬁ “U %Zw

Ke!meth McKeown, Director of AEIministration




Government Finance Officers Association
203 North LaSalle Street, Suite 2700

Chicago, lllinois 60601-1210

312.977.9700 fax: 312.977.4806

January 29, 2020

The Honorable Andrew "FoFo" Gilich
Mayor

City of Biloxi

PO Box 429

Biloxi, MS 39533-0429

Dear Mayor Gilich:

We are pleased to notify you that your comprehensive annual financial report (CAFR) for the
fiscal year ended 2018 qualifies for GFOA's Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in
Financial Reporting. The Certificate of Achievement is the highest form of recognition in
governmental accounting and financial reporting, and its attainment represents a significant
accomplishment by a government and its management.

When a Certificate of Achievement is awarded to a government, an Award of Financial Reporting
Achievement (AFRA) is also presented to the individual(s) or department designated by the
government as primarily responsible for its having earned the Certificate. This award has been
sent to the submitter as designated on the application.

We hope that you will arrange for a formal presentation of the Certificate and Award of Financial
Reporting Achievement, and that appropriate publicity will be given to this notable achievement.

A sample news release is enclosed to assist with this effort.

We hope that your example will encourage other government officials in their efforts to achieve
and maintain an appropriate standard of excellence in financial reporting.

Sincerely,

Mlle st L....

Michele Mark Levine
Director, Technical Services Center

i A

RECEIVED
FEB 0 2 2020
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Organizational Chart
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COMPANY

To the City Council
City of Biloxi
Biloxi, Mississippi

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Biloxi,
Mississippi (City), as of and for the year ended September 30, 2019, and the related notes to the financial
statements, which collectively comprise the City’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of
contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

‘ An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s

‘ preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinions.

1077 Tommy Munro Drive © Biloxi, Mississippi 39532 « P.O. Box 231 * Biloxi, Mississippi 39533-0231 CPA Y

Phone 228-374-4141 www.pwlcpa.com Fax 228-374-5521 PRV (7 DU




Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
respective financial position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund,
and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi, as of September 30,
2019, and the respective changes in financial position and, where applicable, cash flows thereof for the
year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management’s
discussion and analysis and budgetary comparison information on pages 17-21 and 72-73 be presented
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an
essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United
States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the
information and comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic
financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because
the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s basic financial statements. The introductory
section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, schedule of investments — all
funds, schedule of long term debt, schedule of surety bonds for municipal officials and other municipal
employees, and statistical section are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required
part of the basic financial statements. The schedule of expenditures of federal awards is presented for
purposes of additional analysis as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards,
and is also not a required part of the basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, schedule of investments — all funds,
schedule of long term debt, schedule of surety bonds for municipal officials and other municipal
employees, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are the responsibility of management and
were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the
audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and
reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the
basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In
our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements, schedule of investments
— all funds, schedule of long term debt, schedule of surety bonds for municipal officials and other
municipal employees, and the schedule of expenditures of federal awards are fairly stated, in all material
respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.
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The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in
the audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated June 19, 2020,
on our consideration of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi’s internal control over financial reporting and on
our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements
and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control
over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City of Biloxi,
Mississippi’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

%@M@Q&aé &
Certified Public Accountants

Biloxi, Mississippi
September 28, 2020
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Brief Discussion of the Basic Financial Statements

The City’s management has prepared this discussion and analysis to provide an objective
analysis of the City’s financial activities and financial condition as presented in the basic financial
statements which form a part of the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The basic
financial statements are presented in three parts: government-wide financial statements, fund financial
statements and the notes to financial statements.

Government-wide financial statements focus on the overall financial position and activities of
the City, in total, rather than the City’s individual funds. In these statements, all governmental
activities are consolidated into a column and all business-type activities are consolidated into a
column. The two columns are added to present a total for the City as a whole. These statements
include the Statement of Net Position which discloses all of the City’s assets and liabilities and
the difference which is titled “net position”. Also included is the Statement of Activities which
focuses on the cost of services provided and activities performed by the City and the source of
money used to pay for the services and activities. The Statement of Activities also explains how
the City’s net position increased or decreased during the fiscal year. Both of the government-
wide financial statements segregate functions of the City that are supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from those functions that are mainly
supported through charges to the consumer (business-type activities). The City’s water and
sewer utilities and the City’s port operations are business-type activities. The government-wide
financial statements present information for both governmental funds and proprietary funds on
the accrual basis of accounting.

Fund financial statements follow the government-wide statements. These statements present
the balance sheets and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balance of
the City’s funds. The fund financial statements present governmental funds on the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Some examples of the differences between the government-wide
financial statements and the governmental fund financial statements, inherent in the differences
in the basis of accounting are:

Under the modified accrual basis of accounting, capital outlays are expenditures of
resources with no offsetting capital asset increase because capital assets are not shown

on the balance sheet.

Principal payments on long-term debt are reported as expenditures with no offsetting
reduction of liabilities because long-term liabilities are not shown on the balance sheet.

The proceeds of debt borrowing is reported as an increase (inflow) of expendable
resources with no offsetting increase in liabilities.
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A fund is a fiscal and accounting entity with a balanced set of accounts for recording and
disclosing the reporting entity’s stewardship of resources received and segregated for specific
activities including the amount of resources received, the amount expended, liabilities owed and
the residual balance (equity) of the funds. The City uses funds to segregate resources and
resource use according to the purpose for which the resources were segregated. The objective of
fund accounting is to demonstrate compliance with budgetary and legal requirements that apply
to the resources segregated in each fund.

In the fund financial statements, each of the City’s major funds is presented in a separate
column. The City’s non-major funds are combined and the totals presented in one column. The
distinction between governmental type activities and proprietary type activities is maintained
through the presentation of separate statements for these two types of funds.

Governmental funds are used to account for governmental functions of the City of Biloxi
including administration, executive, legislative, legal (general governmental activities), public
safety, public works, parks and recreation, public health and welfare, capital projects and debt
service. These are the functions that are presented as “Governmental Activities” in the
government-wide financial statements. Presentation of financial information for the City’s
governmental funds differs from the information presented in the government-wide financial
statements because the focus of fund accounting is on near-term inflows and outflows of
spendable resources and the balances of spendable resources available at year-end.

Proprietary funds include enterprise funds and internal service funds. Enterprise funds are
used for those activities which are financed, primarily, by charges to users and customers.
Internal service funds are used for City activities that provide goods or services for the City’s
various funds and departments such as the City’s Self Insurance Fund. In the government-wide
financial statements these activities are called “business-type activities”.

Notes to the Financial Statements provide additional information to explain the data presented
in the basic financial statements.

Government-wide Condensed Data — Governmental and Business-type Activities

Current and other assets
Capital assets
Total assets

Deferred Outflows

Current & other liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows

Net Position

Net inves. in capital assets
Restricted

Unrestricted

Total net position

Table 1
City of Biloxi
Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total Primary Government

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
52,426,611 $ 49,082,605 $ 21,472,302 $ 20,928,265 $ 73,898,913 $ 70,010,870
362,376,794 348,511,422 317,348,633 294,047,747 679,725,427 642,559,169
414,803,405 $ 397,594,027 $ 338,820,935 $ 314,976,012 $ 753,624,340 $ 712,570,039
1,862,954 $ 1,379,772 $ 124,880 $ 88,934 $ 1,987,834 $ 1,468,706
11,184,126 $ 20,359,664 $ 19,379,617 $ 15,948,153 $ 30,563,743 $ 36,307,817
166,138,485 150,195,205 20,636,055 21,081,064 186,774,540 171,276,269
177,322,611 $ 170,554,869 $ 40,015,672 $ 37,029,217 $ 217,338,283 $ 207,584,086
911,772 $ 1,772,775 $ 60,266 $ 117,177 $ 972,038 $ 1,889,952
284,853,022 $ 280,488,570 $ 301,144,479 $ 277,005,821 $ 585,997,501 $ 557,494,391
17,622,454 20,356,979 127,734 338,277 17,750,188 20,695,256

(64,043,500) (74,199,393) (2,402,336) 574,454 (66,445,836) (73,624,939)

238,431,976 $ 226,646,156 $ 298,869,877 $ 277,918,552 $ 537,301,853 $ 504,564,708
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Table 2
City of Biloxi
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Total Primary Government

2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Revenues
Program revenues
Charges for services 9,299,590 9,777,495 $ 18,856,746  § 18,467,178 $ 28,156,336 28,244,673
Operating grants 1,318,071 1,103,891 - - 1,318,071 1,103,891
Capital grants and contributions 9,401,559 6,587,329 27,790,851 28,733,189 37,192,410 35,320,518
General revenues
Property taxes 19,607,313 19,563,266 518,810 504,065 20,126,123 20,067,331
Intergovernmental, unrestricted
Sales taxes 12,686,183 12,559,805 - - 12,686,183 12,559,805
Gaming taxes 20,481,131 19,182,154 - - 20,481,131 19,182,154
Franchise taxes 3,152,300 3,052,764 - - 3,152,300 3,052,764
Other revenue 7,143,439 11,018,881 290,751 149,048 7,434,190 11,167,929
Total revenues 83,089,586 82,845,585 47,457,158 47,853,480 130,546,744 130,699,065
Expenses
General government 9,049,952 6,374,089 - - 9,049,952 6,374,089
Parks and recreation 6,777,956 6,253,845 - - 6,777,956 6,253,845
Public safety 39,005,069 32,266,925 - - 39,005,069 32,266,925
Public works 12,409,377 10,484,494 - - 12,409,377 10,484,494
Community development 4,584,615 4,984,812 - - 4,584,615 4,984,812
Unallocated depreciation 3,220,865 3,024,148 - - 3,220,865 3,024,148
Interest on long-term debt 2,406,688 2,715,139 - - 2,406,688 2,715,139
Water and sewer service - - 16,557,960 15,621,235 16,557,960 15,621,235
Port Fund activities - - 3,797,116 3,685,904 3,797,116 3,685,904
PCDC activities - - - - - -
Total expenses 77,454,522 66,103,452 20,355,076 19,307,139 97,809,598 85,410,591
Increase (decrease) in net position
before transfers 5,635,064 16,742,133 27,102,082 28,546,341 32,737,146 45,288,474
Transfers 6,150,756 902,777 (6,150,756) (902,777) - -
Increase (decrease) in net position 11,785,820 17,644,910 20,951,326 27,643,564 32,737,146 45,288,474
Net position beginning of year 226,646,156 209,001,246 277,918,552 250,274,988 504,564,708 459,276,234
Net position, end of year 238,431,976 226,646,156 $ 298,869,878 § 277,918,552 $ 537,301,854 504,564,708

Overall Financial Position and Results of Operations

The net position of governmental activities increased by $11.8 million while the fund balances of
governmental funds increased by $11.7 million. The change in net position is reconciled to the change
in fund balances of governmental funds in the schedule titled Reconciliation of the Statement of
Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of
Activities. One major reconciling item is capital expenditures which decrease fund balance in the
governmental fund financial statements. These capital expenditures are reported as increases in capital
assets in the Statement of Net Position rather than as an expense on the statement of Changes in Net
Position.

The net position of business-type activities (Water and Sewer Fund and Port Fund) increased by
$20.6 million during FY 18/19. The increase was due in part to grant revenues from the Department of
Homeland Security (FEMA) that continue to replace and upgrade the water and sewer infrastructure of
the City. Additionally, the City has gradually increased its water and sewer rates over the past four
years. These rate increases contributed to the growing net position.
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Analysis of Significant Balances and Operation of Individual Funds

Fund Balances

General Fund - The General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. The General Fund at the fund
level increased its fund balance by $466,807 and ended the year with a fund balance of $15.3 million.
The increase is attributable to having a better than expected year on the revenue side of the equation and
keeping expenditures below budget for the year.

Debt Service Fund - The fund balance in the City’s debt service funds is required to pay principal and
interest maturities due at the beginning of each fiscal year before ad valorem tax revenues collections for
the year are sufficient to cover debt service. Ad valorem tax revenue is the primary resource of the Debt
Service Fund for payment of interest and principal.

Water and Sewer Fund — In prior years, revenues and other Water and Sewer Fund resources were not
adequate to pay the cost of operations. After 4 successive years of incremental rate increase the Water
and Sewer Fund showed a profit in operating income $740,093 which includes depreciation expense of
$2.3 million. The City’s water and sewer rates are relatively low compared to other service providers in
Mississippi. The City has a rate increase which will occur in October of 2019 and its effects will be
shown in the next fiscal year. The City’s governing authority is committed to future rate adjustments to
provide sufficient revenue to stabilize the Water and Sewer Fund in future fiscal years.

General Capital Projects Fund — The General Capital Projects Fund is the vehicle used to
account for all major ongoing projects of the City including the infrastructure project that is funded
through FEMA. Bond funds and grants account for most of the other sources of funding for projects
other than the infrastructure project. Advanced funding on the MEMA/FEMA project accounts for the
makeup of fund balance in this fund at year end.

Budget Variances in the General Fund

The Basic Financial Statements include a budget to actual comparison for the City’s General
Fund revenues and expenditures. The comparison is made on the cash basis which differs from
modified accrual because receivables and payables are not recognized. An explanation of the budget
basis is provided in Note II.A. For FY 18/19 the City’s governing authority originally budgeted a
reduction in the City’s General Fund, budget basis fund balance of $1.4 million. At year-end, the City
actually had a net increase to fund balance of $177,882. The City’s General Fund, budget basis fund
balance ended the year $18.5 million. The City had an overall net positive for the year in the general
fund.

Capital Assets Activity

During FY 18/19 the City expended $47 million on capital projects. The largest source for those
expenditures was the on-going infrastructure project which is the result of Hurricane Katrina. The
remainder, for the most part, was the expending of previous bond issue on projects. Much of the City’s
capital outlay was financed by FEMA grants. See Detail Note III. F, for additional information
concerning capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2019.
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Long-term Debt

The City of Biloxi has long-term outstanding debt consisting of general obligation bonds, notes,
limited obligation bonds and notes, loans, leases, and compensated absences. The long-term debt for the
General Government was $77,956,478 at the beginning of fiscal year 18/19. During the fiscal year, the
City had additions to the General Obligation Bonds and Notes of $14,000,000, Limited Obligation
Bonds of $1,418,600, and Capital leases of $50,400. The allocation for compensated absences was
increased by $301,844. The City retired $3,685,000 in General Obligation debt as well as $1,715,769 in
Limited Obligation bonds. Combined with the capital lease payments of $567,311, the City reduced its
long term debt by a net of $5,968,080 leaving a balance of long term debt at year-end of $87,759,242.
Debts related to the City’s Business Type Activities totaled $16,628,170. There was a net decrease of
business-type debt of $785,754 for the year. Harrison County is reimbursing the City for the full amount
of debt service on the port bond issue. In the Supplemental Information section of the financial report is
a schedule titled Schedule of Long-Term Debt which discloses the beginning balances of each debt, new
debt incurred and the principal amount paid during the year.

State laws limit the amount of debt a municipality may incur. General obligation bonded debt,
excluding debt issued for utility purposes, is limited to 15% of assessed valuation. All debt, excluding
utility revenue debt and tax increment financing bonds, is subject to a limit of 20% of assessed value.
Note III. I discloses the City’s compliance with statutory debt limitations.

Credit Rating

When a governmental entity issues bonds, it may obtain a rating from one or more of the bond
rating agencies. The rating is a measure of the issuer’s ability to repay the debt and provides a means
whereby investors may measure the risk of their investment in the bonds.

On May 21, 2012, Standard & Poor’s Rating Services raised its standard long-term rating from
BBB+ to AA- with a stable outlook. On March 30, 2014, Standard & Poor’s Rating Service affirmed
that AA- for the City’s long-term rating. Standard & Poor’s Rating Services’ rational was based on:
e Historically very strong financial reserves that allowed it to absorb the loss of revenues
associated with the impact of Hurricane Katrina;
e Stable tax base; and
e Moderate overall debt burden.

Early in 2019, the City of Biloxi, in conjunction with a 2019 General Obligation issue requested
a rating by Standard and Poor’s rating services. On February 8, 2019, Standard and Poor’s Global
Ratings assigned its “AA-“ long term rating to Biloxi, Mississippi Series 2019 General Obligation
Public Improvement Bonds. This rating reflects an outlook of “stable” to this bond issue.

Contact Information

Questions concerning any of the information provided in this report or requests for additional
financial information should be addressed to Scarlett Rogers, Accounting Department, City of Biloxi,
P.O. Box 429, Biloxi, MS 39533
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City of Biloxi
Statement of Net Position

September 30, 2019
Primary Government
Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 26,962,396 $ 8,473,563 $ 35,435,959
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 1,644,123 1,644,123
Investments 14,731,102 127,735 14,858,837
Receivables
Taxes 6,731,990 - 6,731,990
Customer accounts, net 215,585 1,913,234 2,128,819
Grants 657,210 8,841,164 9,498,374
Other 2,199,627 30,000 2,229,627
Prepaids 927,896 - 927,896
Inventories - 442 483 442 483
Mortgage loans receivable 805 - 805
Capital assets
Land and construction in progress 111,494,428 227,194,556 338,688,984
Other (net of accumulated depreciation) 250,882,366 90,154,077 341,036,443
Total assets 414,803,405 338,820,935 753,624,340
Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows for pensions 1,862,954 124,880 1,987,834
Total deferred outflows of resources 1,862,954 124,880 1,987,834
Liabilities and Net Position
Liabilities
Accounts payable 14,272,665 537,611 14,810,276
Accounts payable from restricted assets - 25,622 25,622
Customer deposits payable from restricted assets - 1,644,123 1,644,123
Internal balances (16,151,751) 16,151,751 -
Grant anticipation note 2,751,071 2,751,071
Unearned revenue 178,077 55,717 233,794
Noncurrent liabilities
Due within one year:
Bonds and notes 5,729,005 858,789 6,587,794
Compensated absences 2,558,868 106,004 2,664,872
Claims payable from restricted assets 1,846,191 - 1,846,191
Due beyond one year:
Proportionate share of collective net pension liability 86,667,116 4,972,678 91,639,794
Bonds and notes 71,794,767 15,345,365 87,140,132
Compensated absences 7,676,603 318,012 7,994,615
Total liabilities 177,322,611 40,015,672 217,338,283
Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows on pension liability 911,772 60,266 972,038
Total deferred inflows of resources 911,772 60,266 972,038
Net position
Net investment in capital assets 284,853,022 301,144,479 585,997,501
Restricted for
Public safety 554,418 - 554,418
Debt service 4,419,615 24,813 4,444,428
Capital improvements 12,615,270 102,921 12,718,191
Endowment, expendable 33,151 - 33,151
Unrestricted (64,043,500) (2,402,336) (66,445,836)
Total net position $ 238,431,976 $ 298,869,877 $ 537,301,853

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash & equivalents
Investments
Restricted investments
Receivables:
Taxes
Customer accounts, net
Grants
Other
Due from other City funds
Prepaids
Mortgage loans receivable
Total assets

Liabilities and Fund Balance
Liabilities
Accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Due to other City funds
Grant anticipation note
Unearned revenue
Total liabilities

Fund Balances
Nonspendable
Prepaids
Restricted for
Long-term receivables
Public safety
Claims
Economic development
Endowment
Maintenance
Capital improvements
Committed for
Capital improvements
Debt service
Unassigned
Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds

September 30, 2019
General Wal-Mart 2019 Other

Capital Debt TIFI &I GO Capital Non-Major Total
General Projects Service Projects Projects Governmental Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds
§ 11,797,044 $ 5,646,467 § 5412942 § - 8 - % 1,079,387 § 23,935,840
1,406,209 - 1,406,209
- - - 111,506 508,355 619,861
- - - - 13,921,892 - 13,921,892
6,626,168 - 87,721 - - 18,101 6,731,990
215,585 - - - - - 215,585
- 656,045 - - - - 656,045
1,082,297 - 1,076,355 - - 42,140 2,200,792
7,726,691 22,684,841 - - - - 30,411,532
927,896 - - - - - 927,896
- - - - - 805 805
$ 28375681 $ 28987353 $§ 6,577,018 § 1,517,715 $ 13,921,892 $ 1,648,788 $§ 81,028,447
$ 5326933 § 10,025345 $ 45,668 $ 1,355,600 $ -8 38,901 $ 16,792,447
7,553,344 4,715,067 2,111,735 - - - 14,380,146
- 2,751,071 - - - - 2,751,071
178,077 - - - - - 178,077
13,058,354 17,491,483 2,157,403 1,355,600 - 38,901 34,101,741
927,896 - - - - - 927,896
- - - - - 805 805
554,418 - - - - - 554,418
- - - - - 431,359 431,359
4,346,022 - - - - - 4,346,022
- - - - - 33,151 33,151
- - - - - 25,172 25,172
- - - 162,115 13,921,892 - 14,084,007
- 11,495,870 - - - 1,119,400 12,615,270
- - 4,419,615 - - - 4,419,615
9,488,991 - - - - - 9,488,991
15,317,327 11,495,870 4,419,615 162,115 13,921,892 1,609,887 46,926,706
$ 28375681 $§ 28987353 § 6,577,018 § 1,517,715 $ 13,921,892 § 1,648,788 § 81,028,447

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Reconciliation of the Balance Sheet of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Net Positon
September 30, 2019

Total fund balances of governmental funds in the balance sheet, page 24

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position
are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Internal service funds are used by management to account for the costs of the
City's risk management, including insurance. The assets and liabilities of the
internal service funds are included in governmental activities in the statement
of net position.

Net pension obligation

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are applicable to
future periods and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
Long-term liabilities, including bonds payable are not due and payable in
the current period and therefore are not reported in the funds.

Long term debt (77,523,772)
Compensated absences (7,676,603)

$ 46,926,706

362,337,709

83,869

(86,667,116)

1,862,954

(911,772)

(85,200,375)

Net position of governmental activities, page 22

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

$ 238,431,976
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Revenues
Ad valorem taxes
Licenses and permits
Intergovernmental
Charges for services
Fines
Other

Total revenues

Expenditures

Current
General government
Parks and recreation
Public safety
Public works
Engineering
Community development
Non-departmental

Debt service
Principal retirement
Interest and other

Bond issue costs

Capital outlay, projects
Total expenditures
Excess (deficiency) of

revenues over expenditures

Other financing sources (uses)
Issuance of notes
Bond premium
Payment to refunded bond
escrow agent
Capital lease
Transfers in
Transfers out
Total other financing
sources (uses)
Net change in fund balance
Fund balances, beginning of year

Fund balances, end of year

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019

General Wal-Mart 2019 Other
Capital Debt TIFI & II GO Capital Nonmajor Total
General Projects Service Projects Projects Governmental Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ 11,338,018  $ - $§ 6955193 § -3 - $ 1,264,102 § 19,557,313
4,294,544 - - - - - 4,294,544
35,284,561 9,756,010 1,168,810 50,000 - 595,656 46,855,037
2,762,400 - - - - - 2,762,400
515,209 - - - - - 515,209
6,032,794 6,500 145,541 2,134 155,398 334,065 7,276,432
60,827,526 9,762,510 8,269,544 52,134 155,398 2,193,823 81,260,935
6,918,415 - - - - 992 6,919,407
4,337,135 - - - - 156,633 4,493,768
31,448,123 - - - - 1,264,102 32,712,225
8,645,943 - - - - - 8,645,943
1,316,244 - - - - - 1,316,244
3,496,590 - - - - 754,205 4,250,795
3,618,071 - - - - - 3,618,071
427,367 - 5,400,769 - - - 5,828,136
197,368 - 2,725,706 - - - 2,923,074

- - - 62,391 239,200 - 301,591

- 19,269,931 - 1,355,600 - - 20,625,531
60,405,256 19,269,931 8,126,475 1,417,991 239,200 2,175,932 91,634,785
422,270 (9,507,421) 143,069 (1,365,857) (83,802) 17,891 (10,373,850)

- - - 1,418,600 14,000,000 - 15,418,600

- - - - 620,608 - 620,608

29,400 - - - - - 29,400
145,879 11,858,759 347 - - 25,000 12,029,985
(130,742) (113,232) - - (614,914) (5,126,083) (5,984,971)
44,537 11,745,527 347 1,418,600 14,005,694 (5,101,083) 22,113,622
466,307 2,238,106 143,416 52,743 13,921,892 (5,083,192) 11,739,772
14,850,520 9,257,764 4,276,199 109,372 - 6,693,079 35,186,934
$ 15317327 $ 114495870 § 4419615 § 162,115 § 13,921,892 $§ 1,609,887 § 46,926,706

The accompanying notes are an intergral part of the financial statements.
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds
to the Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of activities are different because:
Net change in fund balances of governmental funds, page 26

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
statement of activities the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense.
Expenditures for capital assets 21,341,954

Less current year depreciation (8,987,920)

The issuance of long-term debt (bonds payable) provides current financial resources
to governmental funds, but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the
statement of net position. Repayment of borrowed principal is an expenditure
in the governmental funds, but the repayment reduced long-term liabilities in the
statement of net position. This is the amount by which repayments exceed

proceeds.
Bond, capital lease, and loan proceeds (15,469,000)
Principal payments 5,400,769
Lease payments 567,126

Some revenues reported in the statement of activities do not provide current financial
resources and therefore are not reported as revenues in governmental funds.
Donated assets 1,826,321

Basis of assets sold (83,483)

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and therefore are not reported as expenditures in governmental funds.

Change in deferred outflows 483,182
Change in deferred inflows 861,003
Change in net pension obligation (5,669,852)
Change in compensated absences - due beyond one year (226,383)

Internal service funds are used by management to allocate the cost of self insuring
to individual funds. The net revenue (expense) of the internal service funds is
reported with governmental activities.

Change in net position of governmental activities, page 23

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

11,739,772

12,354,034

(9,501,105)

1,742,838

(4,552,050)

2,330

11,785,820
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Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Restricted cash
Investments
Receivables:
Customer accounts, net
Customer accounts earned but
not billed
Grants
Other
Due from other City funds
Supplies inventory
Total current assets

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation
Total noncurrent assets
Total assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources
Deferred outflows for pensions
Total deferred outflows of resources

Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accounts payable from restricted assets
Customer deposits payable from
restricted assets
Current portion of bond and notes
Unearned revenue
Compensated absences
Due to other City funds
Claims contingency payable from
restricted assets
Total current liabilities

Non-current liabilities:
Notes payable, non-current
Compensated absences
Net pension liability

Total non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources
Deferred inflows for pensions
Total deferred inflows of resources

Net position
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted for capital projects
Restricted for debt service
Unrestricted
Total net position

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
September 30, 2019
Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Governmental
Major Funds Non-Major Fund Activities
Water Biloxi Point Cadet Total Internal
and Port Development Enterprise Service
Sewer Fund Corporation Funds Funds
$ 3,917,814 $ 4,527,130 $ 28,621 $ 8,473,565 $ 1,809,695
1,531,118 113,005 - 1,644,123 -
- 127,735 - 127,735 -
948,403 499,709 - 1,448,112 -
465,122 - - 465,122 -
8,390,986 450,178 - 8,841,164 -
30,000 - - 30,000 -
4,674,208 - - 4,674,208 120,365
442,483 - - 442,483 -
20,400,134 5,717,757 28,621 26,146,512 1,930,060
279,341,403 37,891,148 116,082 317,348,633 -
279,341,403 37,891,148 116,082 317,348,633 -
299,741,537 43,608,905 144,703 343,495,145 1,930,060
100,372 24,508 124,880
100,372 24,508 - 124,880 -
472,906 64,706 - 537,612 -
25,622 - - 25,622 -
1,531,118 113,005 - 1,644,123 -
578,789 280,000 - 858,789 -
55,717 - - 55,717 -
54,204 51,801 - 106,004 -
472,720 20,353,240 - 20,825,960 -
- - - - 1,846,191
3,191,076 20,862,752 - 24,053,827 1,846,191
8,655,365 6,690,000 - 15,345,365 -
162,611 155,402 - 318,012
3,028,792 1,943,886 4,972,678
11,846,768 8,789,288 - 20,636,055 -
15,037,843 29,652,039 - 44,689,882 1,846,191
34,093 26,173 60,266
34,093 26,173 - 60,266 -
270,107,249 30,921,148 116,082 301,144,479 -
- 102,921 - 102,921 -
- 24,813 - 24,813 -
14,662,724 (17,093,681) 28,621 (2,402,336) 83,869
$ 284,769,973 $ 13,955,201 $ 144,703 $ 298,869,877 $ 83,869

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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Operating Revenues
Charges for services:

Water sales, sewer revenues

penalties & installations, net
Keesler Air Force Base, sewer

Harbor fees and rents
Insurance billings
Total charges for service
Cobra contributions
Other income
Total operating revenues

Operating expenses
Personal services
Contracted services
Other services and charges
Depreciation
Total operating expenses

Operating income (loss)

Non-operating revenues (expenses)

Interest income
Interest expense
Intergovernmental tax revenues

Loss on capital assets

Total non-operating revenues (expenses)
Income before contributions and transfers

Capital contributions
Transfers in
Transfers out
Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year
Net position, end of year

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position

Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019

Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Governmental
Major Funds Non-Major Fund Activities
Water Biloxi Point Cadet Total Internal
And Port Development Enterprise Service
Sewer Fund Corporation Funds Funds
$ 16,391,481 $ - 8 - § 16,391,481 $ -
653,175 - - 653,175 -
- 1,760,666 6,600 1,767,266 -
- - - - 11,218,790
17,044,656 1,760,666 6,600 18,811,922 11,218,790
- - - - 140,568
6,960 37,864 - 44,824 -
17,051,616 1,798,530 6,600 18,856,746 11,359,358
1,855,014 1,337,165 - 3,192,179 -
10,546,043 256,287 - 10,802,330 11,464,378
1,682,198 219,911 - 1,902,109 -
2,302,080 1,734,409 - 4,036,489 -
16,385,335 3,547,772 - 19,933,107 11,464,378
666,281 (1,749,242) 6,600 (1,076,361) (105,020)
103,050 187,701 - 290,751 1,608
(170,674) (249,343) - (420,017) -
- 2,087,974 - 2,087,974 -
(1,951) - - (1,951) -
(69,575) 2,026,332 - 1,956,757 1,608
596,706 277,090 6,600 880,396 (103,412)
26,523,623 (301,937) - 26,221,686 -
- - - - 105,742
(1,595,019) (4,555,738) - (6,150,757) -
25,525,310 (4,580,585) 6,600 20,951,325 2,330
259,244,663 18,535,786 138,103 277,918,552 81,539
$ 284,769,973 $ 13,955,201 $ 144,703 $ 298,869,877 $ 83,869

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019

Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Governmental
Major Funds Non-Major Fund Activities
Water Biloxi Point Cadet Total Internal
And Port Development Enterprise Service
Sewer Fund Corporation Funds Funds
Cash flows from operating activities
Receipts from customers $ 17,094,818 § 1,336,809 § 6,600 $§ 18,438227 $§ -
Receipts from interfund services provided 11,359,357
Payments to suppliers (12,099,873) (481,994) - (12,581,867) (11,974,164)
Payments for services of employees (1,654,612) (1,203,638) - (2,858,250) -
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 3,340,333 (348,823) 6,600 2,998,110 (614,807)
Cash flows from non-capital
financing activities
Loans (to) from other funds 1,078,453 - - 1,078,453 41,740
Net cash provided by (used in)
non-capital financing activities 1,078,453 - - 1,078,453 41,740
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities
Intergovernmental tax revenues - 2,087,973 - 2,087,973 -
Grant revenues 24,891,412 46,506 - 24,937,918 -
Transfers (to) from other funds (1,595,019) (4,555,738) - (6,150,757) 105,742
Loans (to) from other funds (254,341) 2,305,902 - 2,051,561 -
Acquisition of capital assets (24,998,185) (2,339,192) - (27,337,377) -
Loss on capital assets (1,951) - - (1,951) -
Repayment of debt (567,771) (270,000) - (837,771) -
Interest paid on debt (170,674) (249,343) - (420,017) -
Net cash provided by (used in) capital
and related financing activities (2,696,529) (2,973,892) - (5,670,421) 105,742
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest and dividends on investments 103,050 187,701 - 290,751 1,608
Proceeds from investments - 210,543 - 210,543 -
Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities 103,050 398,244 - 501,294 1,608
Net increase (decrease) in cash
and cash equivalents 1,825,307 (2,924,471) 6,600 (1,092,564) (465,717)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning
of period 3,623,625 7,564,606 22,021 11,210,252 2,275,412
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $ 5448932 $§ 4,640,135 § 28,621 $ 10,117,688 $ 1,809,695
Classified as:
Current assets $ 3917814 § 4,527,130 $ 28,621 $§ 8473565 $§ 1,809,695
Restricted assets 1,531,118 113,005 - 1,644,123 -
Totals $§ 5448932 § 4,640,135 $ 28,621 $§ 10,117,688 § 1,809,695
Non cash
Contributions of capital assets $ 1,064,767 $ - 3 - S 1,064,767 $ -

Assets transferred to governmental funds - - - -

Continued on next page
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Statement of Cash Flows
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2019
(Continued)

Business-Type Activities-Enterprise Funds Governmental
Major Funds Non-Major Fund Activities
Water Biloxi Point Cadet Total Internal
And Port Development Enterprise Service
Sewer Fund Corporation Funds Funds
Reconciliation of operating income
(loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss) $ 666,281 $ (1,749,242)  § 6,600 $ (1,076,361) $ (105,020)
Adjustments not affecting cash
Depreciation 2,302,080 1,734,409 - 4,036,489 -
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (89,041) (456,590) - (545,631) -
Supplies inventory (17,745) - - (17,745) -
Deferred outflows for pensions (20,676) (15,270) (35,946)
Accounts payable and
accrued expenses 192,560 7,975 - 200,535 (509,787)
Unearned revenue (524) - - (524) -
Customer deposits 124,567 (5,131) - 119,436 -
Net pension liability 215,566 159,201 - 374,767 -
Deferred inflows for pensions (32,735) (24,175) - (56,910) -
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities $ 3,340,333 $ (348,823) $ 6,600 $ 2,998,110 $ (614,807)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
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I.

(A)

(B)

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended September 30, 2019

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City of Biloxi, Mississippi (the City) have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States (GAAP) applicable
to governmental units. The following is a summary of the more significant accounting policies of
the City:

Reporting Entity

The City of Biloxi, Mississippi was incorporated on February 8, 1838 under the laws of the State
of Mississippi. The City operates under a Mayor-Council form of government and provides the
following services: public safety, (police, fire and civil defense), public works (highways, streets,
and sanitation), health and social services, culture-recreation, community development, planning
and zoning, and general administrative services.

The City’s reporting entity applies all applicable Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB) pronouncements. As required by GAAP, these financial statements present the City of
Biloxi (the primary government) and its components. The component unit discussed in Note I (B)
below is included in the City’s reporting entity because of the significance of its operation and
financial relationships with the City.

Component Unit Disclosure

The criteria for including component units consist of identification of legally separate
organizations for which the elected officials of the City are financially accountable. This criteria
also includes identification of organizations for which the nature and significance of their
relationship with the primary government are such that exclusion would cause the reporting
entity’s financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. Blended component units, although
legally separate entities, are in substance, part of the government’s operations and so data from
these units are combined with data of the primary government. Discretely presented component
units are reported in a separate column in the governments-wide financial statements to emphasize
that they are legally separate from the government. The City presents its component unit using the
blending method.

(1) Blended Component Unit: Point Cadet Development Corporation

The Point Cadet Development Corporation (PCDC), a non-profit corporation, is governed by a
three member board whose president is always the current Mayor of the City of Biloxi. Although
it is legally separate from the City, PCDC is reported as part of the primary government because
its sole purpose is to finance, develop and manage City owned property. PCDC provides services
solely to the City of Biloxi and is reported as an enterprise fund using the blending method.
PCDC does not issue separate financial statements.
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(D)

(E)

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

(2) Biloxi Port Commission / Biloxi Port Fund

Prior to 2003, the Biloxi Port Commission (Commission) provided various services, including
rental of pleasure and commercial berths, industrial building rentals, maintenance and operation of
various harbors, wharves, piers, and channels, etc. The Commission had going concern issues and
on July 24, 2003, the City assumed all of its management responsibilities. The Commissions’
assets and liabilities were completely absorbed by the City during the fiscal year ending September
2004. These assets are currently managed by the Ports and Harbor Division of the City. Separate
financial statements of the Commission are no longer available as such statements are reported as
an enterprise fund.

Related Organizations

The Biloxi Public School District has been excluded from the reporting entity, because it is an
"other stand-alone government". The school district is a related organization of, but not a
component unit of the City of Biloxi. The governing authorities of the City do select a majority of
the school district's board, but do not have ongoing financial accountability for the school district.

Joint Ventures and Jointly Governed Organizations

Additionally, during its evaluation of potential component units, management identified one joint
venture (Harrison County Utility Authority), and two jointly governed organizations (the Harrison
County Library System and the Gulfport-Biloxi International Airport).

A joint venture is a legal entity or other organization that results from a contractual arrangement
and that is owned, operated, or governed by two or more participants as a separate and specific
activity subject to joint control, in which the participants retain (a) an ongoing financial interest or
(b) an ongoing financial responsibility. Generally, the purpose of a joint venture is to pool
resources and share the costs, risks and rewards of providing goods or services to the venture
participants directly, or for the benefit of the general public or specific service recipients.

A jointly governed organization is similar in nature to a joint venture in that they provide goods
and services to the citizenry of two or more governments. However, they do not meet the
definition of a joint venture because there is no ongoing significant financial interest or
responsibility by the participating governments.

Basic Financial Statements

Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds, each of which is considered a
separate accounting entity. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set of
self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and expenditures
or expenses, as appropriate. Governmental resources are allocated to and accounted for in
individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by which
spending activities are controlled.
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(F)

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

The government-wide financial statements, including the statement of net position and the
statement of activities, report information on all of the non-fiduciary activities of the City. For the
most part, the effect of interfund activity has been removed from the statements. Internal service
fund charges for services are not netted or eliminated in the consolidation process. Governmental
activities, which are primarily supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, are reported
separately from business-type activities, which rely extensively on fees and charges for support.
In the government-wide statement of net position, both the governmental and business-type
activities columns are presented on a consolidated basis by column, and are reflected, on a full
accrual, economic resource basis, which incorporates long-term assets and receivables as well as
long-term debt and obligations.

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment are offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general
revenues.

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds and proprietary funds. Major
individual governmental funds and major enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the
fund financial statements.

Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting and Financial Statement Presentation

The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary
fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a
liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are
recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider have been
met.

Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual
basis of accounting, revenues are recognized when they become susceptible to accrual, i.e.,
measurable and available to pay liabilities of the current period. Available means collectible
within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. The
City considers revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the
current fiscal period. Expenditures are recognized when the related fund liability is incurred, if
measurable, except for interest on long-term debt and the long-term portion of accumulated
compensated absences, which are recognized when due.

Year-end accruals of ad valorem taxes, sales taxes, gaming taxes and franchise fees are based upon
actual collections of amounts remitted to the City within 60 days of year end. Anticipated refunds
of taxes are recorded as liabilities and reductions of revenue when they are measurable.
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(G)

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

Other licenses and permits, charges for services, fines and penalties, and miscellaneous revenues
are recorded as revenues when they are received as they are generally not measurable until
actually received; however, charges for services which are measurable are recorded as revenue in
the period earned.

In applying the “susceptible to accrual” concept to intergovernmental revenues pursuant to GASB
Statement No. 33 the provider should recognize liabilities and expenses and the recipient should
recognize receivables and revenue when the applicable eligibility requirements including time
requirements, are met. Resources transmitted before the eligibility requirements are met should,
under most circumstances, be reported as advances by the provider and deferred revenue by the
recipient.

The financial transactions of the City are recorded in the individual funds. Each fund is accounted
for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets liabilities,
reserves, fund equity, revenues and expenditures / expenses. The various funds are reported by
generic classification within the financial statements.

GASB Statement No. 34 sets forth minimum criteria for the determination of major funds. The
City has electively added the General Bond and Interest Fund as a major fund. The non-major
funds are combined in a column in the fund financial statements and detailed in the combining
section.

The proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal operations. The principal operating revenues of the Water and Sewer
fund and PCDC are charges to customers for sales and services. The City insurance funds bill the
other funds to cover insurance premiums and claims. Operating expenses for the enterprise and
internal service funds include the cost of sales and services, administrative expenses and
depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported
as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The preparation of the basic financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management
to make use of estimates that affect reported amounts in the basic financial statements. Actual
results could differ from estimates.

Fund Types and Major Funds

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those funds through which the City finances most of its municipal
services and are accounted for on the basis of a spending measurement focus. The focus on
governmental funds is on the determination of changes in financial position rather than upon net
income determination. The City's governmental funds are as follows:
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

General Fund is the City’s primary operating fund. It is used to account for all financial
resources of the general government except those required to be accounted for in a separate
fund.

General Capital Projects Fund is used to account for the City’s capital projects. Revenues
are received primarily from the General Fund.

Debt Service Fund is used to account for the accumulation of resources for, and the payment
of, general long-term debt principal, interest and related costs.

Other Non-Major Governmental Funds is a summarization of all of the non-major
governmental funds including:

Special Revenue Funds
The Special Revenue Funds are used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue
sources that are legally restricted to expenditures for specified purposes.

Capital Projects Funds
Capital Projects Funds are used to account for financial resources to be used for the
acquisition or construction of major capital facilities.

Proprietary Funds

The focus of Proprietary Fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in
fund net position, financial position, and cash flows, which is similar to businesses. The following
is a description of the Proprietary Funds of the City:

Water and Sewer Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s water and sewer system.
Biloxi Port Fund accounts for the activities of the City’s harbors, wharves, piers and channels.

Non-Major Proprietary Fund — Point Cadet Development Corporation (a blended
component unit) accounts for the activities of PCDC.

Internal Service Funds

Like commercial enterprises, a governmental unit may decide to accept certain risk rather than
insure against those risks. As part of the City's self-insurance program, Internal Service Self-
Insurance Reserve Funds have been established to account for the actual cost of claims,
reinsurance, and reserves. The City's Internal Service Funds administer the risk for workman's
compensation, liability, automobile, casualty, and health insurance. The Internal Service Funds in
turn charge the other City funds for their allocable share of these net costs.
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City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

(H) Assets, Deferred Outflows, Liabilities, Deferred Inflows, and Net Position or Equity

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The City considers cash on hand, cash with fiscal agents, demand deposit, certificates of deposit
and bank repurchase agreements as cash and cash equivalents. In addition, each fund’s equity in
the City’s investment pool has been treated as a cash equivalent since cash may be deposited or
withdrawn from the pool at any time without prior notice or penalty.

Investments
Investments are stated at fair value.

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable are recorded in the Governmental, Business-type, and Component Unit
Funds. Where appropriate, an associated allowance for doubtful accounts has been established in
the related fund.

Inventories and Prepaids

Governmental and Proprietary Fund inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out)
or market. Inventories consist of expendable supplies held for consumption. The cost is recorded
as expenditure at the time individual inventory items are consumed. Prepaids consist of premiums
paid on insurance policies extending beyond year end.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, including land, buildings, improvements other than buildings, infrastructure (i.e.,
roads, bridges, street lighting and other similar items) and equipment are reported in the applicable
governmental and business-type activities columns in the government-wide financial statements.
The City's capitalization levels are as follows: purchased assets costing more than $500 are
capitalized; building renovations are capitalized when their cost exceeds 25% of the building's
previously capitalized cost and if the repair extends the building's estimated useful life; donated
capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, as well as capital assets received in a service
concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value. Assets acquired using capital lease
obligations are treated in the same manner as purchased capital assets.

Depreciation of capital assets is provided on the straight-line basis over the following estimated
useful lives:

Buildings 40-50 years
Improvements 40-50 years
Infrastructure 20-60 years
Equipment 3-15 years
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Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

In addition to assets, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate section
for deferred outflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred Outflows
of Resources, represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future period and so will
not be recognized as an expense until then. The City has an item that meets this criterion,
unamortized changes in investments actual performance, expectations, and projections, and plan
assumptions related to the pension plan (see Note J).

In addition to liabilities, the statement of financial position will sometimes report a separate
section for deferred inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element, Deferred
Inflows of Resources, represents an acquisition of net position that applies to a future period(s) and
so will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The City has an item
that meets this criterion, unamortized changes in plan assumptions related to the pension plan (see
Note J).

Compensated Absences

The City accrues accumulated unpaid vacation and sick leave and associated employee-related
costs when earned (or estimated to be earned) by the employee. For proprietary funds and the
government-wide statements, the current portion is the amount estimated to be used in the
following year.

Post Employment Health Care Benefits
The City does not have costs associated with post-employment benefits for retired employees.

Interfund Transactions

Numerous interfund transactions occur during the normal course of operations of the City.
Disbursements made by one fund which are properly chargeable to another fund result in the
creation of interfund receivables and payables. This type of transaction is normally settled by a
cash payment between the funds. All other interfund transactions are accounted for as transfers.
Transfers between governmental or proprietary funds are netted as part of the reconciliation to the
government wide columnar presentation. Any residual balances outstanding between the
governmental activities and the business-type activities are reported in the government-wide
financial statements as “internal balances”. Internal service fund charges for services are not
netted or eliminated in the consolidation process.

Advances to Other Funds

Various funds have made short-term advances to other funds. These advances, shown as “Due
From Other Funds”, are temporary in nature, bear no interest, and are considered "available
spendable resources”. Long-term advances, if any, are those for which the timing of repayment is
uncertain: thus, an allocable portion of fund balance would be reserved in governmental funds.

Estimated Insurance Claims Payable

The City is self insured for general liability, property, automobile, workers’ compensation and
employee health claims. The operating funds are charged premiums by the City’s insurance
internal service funds. The accrued liabilities for estimated claims represent an estimate of the
eventual loss on claims arising prior to year-end including claims incurred and not yet reported.
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Long-term Debt

In the government-wide financial statements, and proprietary fund types in the fund financial
statements, long-term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the
applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary fund type Statement of
Net Position. Bond premiums and discounts are amortized over the life of the bonds. Bonds
payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are
treated as period costs in the year of issue and are shown as other financing uses.

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts,
as well as bond issuance costs, during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is
reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other
financing uses. Issuance costs, whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are
reported as debt service expenditures.

Historically, the City’s bond discounts/premiums have not been material.

Unearned Revenue

In the governmental funds, certain revenue transactions have been reported as unearned revenue.
Revenue cannot be recognized until it has been earned and it becomes available to finance
expenditures of the current fiscal period.

In proprietary funds (and for governmental activities in the government-wide statements) unearned
revenue is reported for unearned revenue, regardless of its availability.

Fund Equity

Beginning with fiscal year 2011, the City implemented, the Governmental Accounting Standards
Board (GASB) approved Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund
Type Definitions (Statement). This statement provides more clearly defined fund balance
categories to make the nature and extent of the constraints placed on a government’s fund balances
more transparent. The following classifications describe the related strength of spending
constraints:

Nonspendable fund balance—amounts that are not in nonspendable form (such as inventory)
or are required to be maintained intact.

Restricted fund balance—amounts constrained to specific purposes by their providers (such
as grantors, bondholders, and higher levels of government), through constitutional provisions,
or by enabling legislation.

Committed fund balance—amounts constrained to specific purposes by the City itself, using
its highest level of decision-making authority (i.e. City Council). To be reported as
committed, amounts cannot be used for any other purpose unless the City takes the same
highest level action to remove or change the constraint.
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Assigned fund balance—amounts the City intends to use for a specific purpose. Intent can
be expressed by the City Council or by an official or body to which the City Council delegates
authority.

Unassigned fund balance—amounts that are available for any purpose. Positive amounts are
reported only in the general fund.

City Council establishes (and modifies or rescinds) fund balance commitments by passage of an
ordinance or resolution. This is typically done through adoption and amendment of the budget. A
fund balance commitment is further indicated in the budget document as a designation or
commitment of the fund (such as special incentives). Assigned fund balance is established by City
Council through adoption or amendment of the budget as intended for specific purpose (such as
the purchase of capital assets, construction, debt service, or for other purposes).

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available, the City considers restricted funds have been spent first. When an
expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are available,
the City considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then assigned funds,
and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless the City Council has provided otherwise in its
commitment or assignment actions

II. Stewardship, Compliance and Accountability:
A. Budgetary Data

The procedures used by the City in establishing the budgetary data reflected in the combined
financial statements are as follows:

1. Prior to October 1, the Mayor submits to the City Council a proposed operating budget for the
fiscal year beginning October 1. The operating budget includes proposed expenditures and the
means of financing them.

2. Public hearings are conducted to obtain taxpayer comments.
3. Not later than September 15, the budget is legally enacted through passage of a resolution.

4. The budgetary comparisons present budget figures at the legal level of control. The City
legally adopts annual budgets for all funds. The City Council formally adopts the annual
budget for the general fund with revenues segregated by source (ad valorem tax, licenses and
permits, intergovernmental, etc.). The general fund expenditure budget is set at the character
level (current, capital outlay, debt service) for each department (function) with current
expenditures further detailed at the object class level (personal services, supplies, other
services and charges, and contractual services).
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For special revenue and debt service funds, the budgets for revenues are set up at the source
level and expenditures budgets are set at the total expenditure level by fund type.

The budget for capital project funds is adopted at total fund type level with the revenue budget
set at the source level and expenditures set at the total expenditure level. Proprietary fund
budgets are adopted for the Water and Sewer Fund and for the Port Fund with revenues
delineated at the source level (total intergovernmental revenue and total charges for services)
and expenditure budgets delineated by character (current, capital outlay debt service).

State statutes authorize the State Auditor to regulate the municipal budget process.
Expenditures must be defined to the minimum level prescribed by the State Auditor. The State
Auditor has set this level at the purpose level. Municipalities are prohibited from spending in
excess of the lowest level adopted in the budget except for the capital outlay, election expense
and emergency warrants.

Formal budgetary integration at the “account level” is employed by management for
expenditure control purposes. Management may transfer budget between expenditure
accounts within each character grouping of the expenditure accounts for each department.

The City’s budgets are adopted in accordance with state statutes and regulations of the State
Auditor and not on a basis consistent with Generally Accepted Governmental Accounting
Principles. The budgets for revenues are on a cash basis — revenue is recognized if actually
received within the year. Budgeted expenditures are on the cash basis with allowance for
encumbrances for goods and services actually received prior to year-end and liquidated (paid)
within thirty days after year-end. Accounting principles applied in preparation of the budget
comparison statements differ from the generally accepted accounting principles used in
preparation of the fund financial statements. These differences in the principles used results in
timing differences in the recognition of revenues and expenditures. Below is a reconciliation
of the General Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance,
Budget and Actual — Budget Basis to the General Fund column of the Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balance — Governmental Funds:

General
Fund

Excess (deficiency) of revenues and other sources over

expenditures and other uses, budgetary basis $ 177,882
Adjustments

To convert receivables 446,791

To convert lease ( 29,400)

To convert prepaids ( 4,542)

To convert liabilities ( 123.924)
Total, GAAP basis $ 466,807
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B. Excess Expenditures Over Appropriations in Individual Funds
For the year ended September 30, 2019, expenditures did not exceed appropriations in any
department (the legal level of budgetary control) of the general fund. Expenditures did exceed
appropriations in the baseball capital maintenance fund by $15,053. These over expenditures were
funded by a reduction of fund balance in the baseball capital maintenance fund.

C. Deficit Fund Equity
For the year ended September 30, 2019, no funds had a deficient balance in fund equity.

II1. Detail Notes - All Funds
A. Property and Gaming Tax Revenues

Property Tax

The City levies a tax on real and personal property based on the assessed value of property as
compiled by the Harrison County Tax Assessor. The taxes on real and personal property attach as
an enforceable lien on the property as of January 1 of each year. Taxes on real and personal
property are levied by the City Council at the first regular meeting in September. Through an
inter-local agreement, all of the property taxes of the City of Biloxi are collected by the Harrison
County Tax Collector and remitted as tax settlements (less an appropriate collection fee) to the
City on a monthly basis. Taxes for the Biloxi Public School District are also billed and collected
by the county and remitted to the schools through the City.

In accordance with the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, the City Council may levy taxes in
any amount for general revenue purposes and general improvements. However, taxes collected for
any one year may not exceed one hundred and ten percent (110%) of the taxes collected for the
prior assessment year. For purposes of the computation, taxes collected in the current year
resulting from property added to the tax assessment roll are excluded from the computation. In
addition, the City Council may levy additional taxes for specific purposes, such as culture and
recreation, as authorized by law.
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The tax levies for the calendar years 2019, 2018 and 2017 (taxes collected in the fiscal years
ending 9/30/20, 9/30/19, and 9/30/18) are as follows:

9/30/20 9/30/19 9/30/18

Millage Millage Millage
City Funds
General Fund 19.05 18.76 18.58
Special revenue funds:

Disability and Relief (Pension) Funds 1.83 2.12 2.30
Debt Service Funds 9.20 9.20 9.20
Solid waste collection and disposal 0.02 0.02 0.02
Total City administered funds 30.10 30.10 30.10

School Funds
District maintenance 41.42 41.03 40.42
School debt 1.95 2.34 2.95
Total School administered funds 43.37 43.37 43.37
Total levy 73.47 73.47 73.47

Gaming Revenue

In 1992, the citizens of Harrison County voted to allow dockside casino gaming as defined by the
Mississippi Gaming Control Act of 1990. In August of 1992, the first casino opened at Biloxi's
Point Cadet development. As of September 30, 2019, there were eight casinos operating within
the City of Biloxi. Gaming activities are taxed in a variety of ways. The State of Mississippi
levies a sliding scale tax on gross gaming revenue, of which Harrison County and the City of
Biloxi receive .4 to .8 percent. This tax is divided 73.4% to the County, and 26.6% to the City of
Biloxi. The allocation is based upon the population demographics of the last official census. In
addition to the State tax, the City of Biloxi, through local ordinance in accordance with state law,
levies an additional 3.2% tax on gross gaming revenues. This tax is distributed as follows: 60% to
the General Fund, (20% of which is designated for public safety); 20% to the Biloxi Public
Schools; 10% to Harrison County for public safety; and 10% to Harrison County Schools. In
addition to the taxes on gross gaming revenue, the State, City and County annually receive
licensing fees and permits from each casino for each gaming device. The following is an analysis
of the gaming revenues reported in the General Fund:

Local option 3.2% tax $17,211,291
Local share of state tax 1,680,538
Gaming licenses and permits 1,589,302
Total gaming revenues $20,481,131
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B. Deposits and Investments
The City deposits funds in financial institutions selected by the City Council in accordance with
state statutes. Furthermore, the City invests excess funds in various investment instruments that
are allowed by statutes. Various restrictions on deposits and investments are imposed by statutes.
Deposits and investments are summarized below.

Deposits —

Deposits consist of cash amounts in demand accounts and certificates of deposit. The collateral
for public entities’ deposits in financial institutions is now held in the name of the State Treasurer
under a program established by the Mississippi State Legislature and is governed by Section 27-
105-5, Miss. Code Ann. (1972). Under this program, the entity’s funds are protected through a
collateral pool administered by the State Treasurer. Financial institutions holding deposits of
public funds must pledge securities as collateral against those deposits. In the event of failure of a
financial institution, securities pledged by that institution would be liquidated by the State
Treasurer to replace the public deposits not covered by the Federal Depository Insurance
Corporation. By using this multiple financial institution collateral pool, all of the City’s deposits
at September 30, 2019 fall into the credit risk category of “Insured or collateralized with securities
held by the entity or by its agent in the entity’s name™. Deposits are summarized as follows:

Reported Bank

Amount Balance
Cash $ 36,005,083 $ 41,346,740
Certificates of deposit 1,075,000 1,075,000
Total deposits $_37,080,083 $ 42,421,740

Cash and cash equivalents for cash flows of Proprietary Funds include all cash accounts and
certificates of deposit.

Custodial Credit Risk — Deposits

This is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty (e.g., broker-dealer) to a
transaction, the City will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities
that are in the possession of another party. The City does not have a formal policy for custodial
credit risk. However, state law permits the Mississippi State Treasurer’s office to manage that risk
on behalf of the City. Deposits above FDIC coverage are collateralized by the pledging financial
institutions’ trust department or agent in the name of the Mississippi State Treasurer on behalf of
the City. By signed agreement the Mississippi State Treasurer’s office is acting on behalf of the
City.

44



City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

Investments

The City is allowed, by statute, to invest excess funds in any bonds or other direct obligations of
the United States of America or the State of Mississippi, or of any county or municipality of this
state, when such county or municipal bonds have been properly approved. At September 30,2019,
investments consisted of the following:

Reported Fair
Amount Value
Investments held by the City or the City’s
safekeeping agent, and registered in the
name of the City:
Money Market Mutual Funds $_14,858,837 $_14.858,837

Interest Rate Risk. This is the risk that changes in market interest rates will adversely affect
the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the
greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The City does not
have a formal investment policy that limits investment maturities as a means of managing its
exposure to fair value losses arising from increasing interest rates. Most of the City’s
investments are in Money Market Mutual funds which have an investment maturity of less
than one year. The State and local government securities also have a maturity of less than one
year.

Concentration of Credit Risk. The City places no limit on the amount the City may invest in
any one issuer. More than 5 percent of the City’s investments are in Money Market Mutual
Funds.

Credit risk. Generally, credit risk is the risk that an issuer of a debt type investment will not
fulfill its obligation to the holder of the investment. This is measured by assignment of a
rating by a nationally recognized rating organization. U.S. Government securities or
obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. government are not considered to have credit
risk exposure. All of the City’s investments have been given the AAA rating.
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C. Receivables
The Statement of Net Position of the City of Biloxi includes the following receivables at
September 30, 2019:

Taxes receivable:

Utility franchise taxes $ 850,204
Sales taxes 1,997,248
Ad valorem taxes 301,813
Gaming taxes and fees 3,582,725
Total taxes receivable $ 6,731,990

Customer accounts receivable: -
Garbage fees $ 215,585
Water and sewer utility charges (billed) 1,902,686
Port berth rentals 54,818
Less allowance for doubtful accounts (509,392)
Customer accounts receivable earned but not billed 465,122
Total customer accounts receivable, net $ 2,128,819

Grants receivable: -
Federal and state grants $ 9,498,374

Other receivables: -
Special assessments $ 157,230
Liquor privilege tax 79,425
Due from county for debt service 1,076,355
Other 916,617
Total other receivables $ 2,229,627

D. Prepaids
Prepaids at September 30, 2019 consist of the following:
Prepaid insurance premiums § 927,896
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E. Interfund Receivables and Payables

Due From Due To
Individual Interfund Balances at September 30, 2019 Other Funds Other Funds
General Fund:
General Capital Projects Fund $ 5,574,097 $ -
Economic Development Fund 40,859 -
General Bond and Interest Debt Service Fund 2,111,735 -
Water and Sewer Fund - 7,452,710
Claims contingency fund for claims and expenses - 100,634
Total General Fund 7,726,691 7,553,344
General Capital Projects Fund:
General Fund 2,335,549 -
Economic Development Fund 40,859
Water and Sewer Fund for fund project costs - 4,674,208
Biloxi Port Fund 20,349,294 -
Total General Capital Projects Fund 22,684,843 4,715,067
Debt Service Fund
General Fund 2,111,735
Total Debt Service Fund - 2,111,735
Enterprise Fund:
Water and Sewer Fund for claims and expenses - 15,785
Water and Sewer Fund to General Fund 456,935
Water and Sewer Fund to General Capital Projects Fund 4,674,208 -
Biloxi Port Fund for claims and expenses - 3,946
Biloxi Port Fund for fund project costs - 20,349,294
Total Enterprise Fund 4,674,208 20,825,960
Internal Service Self-Insurance:
Claims Contingency Fund from General
Fund for claims and expenses 100,634 -
Claims Contingency Fund from Water
and Sewer Fund for claims and expenses 15,785 -
Claims Contingency Fund from Biloxi
Port Fund for claims and expenses 3,946 -
Total Internal Service Self-Insurance 120,365 -

Totals $ 35,206,107 $ 35,206,106
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The composition of interfund transfers for the year ended September 30, 2019 was as follows:

Transfers From Transfers Into
General Other
Capital Debt Nonmajor
General Projects Service Governmental
Fund Fund Fund Funds Total
General Fund $ - 3 -3 - $ 130,742 $ 130,742
General Capital Projects Fund $ 113,232 - - - 113,232

Nonmajor governmental funds

2000 GO Capital Projects Bond Fund - 6,961 347 - 7,308
2003 GO Capital Projects Bond Fund 21,551 - - 21,551
2012 GO Capital Projects Bond Fund 614,914 - - 614,914
2014 GO Capital Projects Bond Fund 1,059,127 - - 1,059,127
2017 GO Capital Projects Bond Fund - 3,910,258 - - 3,910,258
2002 TIF Cap. Proj. Bond Fund - 127,839 - - 127,839
Total nonmajor gov't funds - 5,740,650 347 - 5,740,997
Total governmental funds 113,232 5,740,650 347 130,742 5,984,971

Internal service funds

Gaming Revenue Interruption - - - - -

Enterprise funds
Biloxi Port Fund - 4,555,738 - - 4,555,738
Water and Sewer 32,646 1,562,372 - - 1,595,018
Total enterprise funds 32,646 6,118,110 - - 6,150,756
Totals $ 145878 $ 11,858,760 $ 347 $ 130,742 % 12,135,727

Transfers are used to 1) move revenues from the fund with the collection authorization to the debt
service fund as debt service principal and interest payments become due, 2) move restricted amounts
from borrowings to the debt service fund to establish mandatory reserve accounts, 3) move unrestricted
general fund revenues to finance various programs that the City must account for in other funds in
accordance with budgetary authorizations, including amounts provided as subsidies or matching funds
for various grant programs.
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F. Capital Asset Activity

Capital asset activity for the year ended September 30, 2019 was as follows:

Governmental activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure - streets and drainage
Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings
Improvements other than buildings
Machinery and equipment
Infrastructure - streets and drainage
Total accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets being depreciated

Net governmental activities assets

Business-type activities
Capital assets, not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
Total capital assets not being depreciated

Capital assets being depreciated:
Equipment
Water and sewer system
Port buildings & improvements
Total capital assets being depreciated

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Equipment
Water and sewer system
Port buildings and improvements
Total accumulated depreciation

Net capital assets being depreciated

Net business-type activities assets

Balance Balance

October 1, September 30,
2018 Increases Decreases 2019

$ 45452501 $ 224807 $ - $ 45,677,308
46,881,089 19,297,966 361,935 65,817,120
92,333,590 19,522,773 361,935 111,494,428
133,211,824 145,458 - 133,357,282
26,038,395 127,241 - 26,165,636
39,999,054 1,891,189 632,513 41,257,730
185,246,937 1,690,750 - 186,937,687
384,496,210 3,854,638 632,513 387,718,335
21,845,538 3,148,930 - 24,994,468
8,468,829 1,148,547 - 9,617,376
32,195,458 1,519,616 520,367 33,194,707
65,808,553 3,220,865 - 69,029,418
128,318,378 9,037,958 520,367 136,835,969
256,177,832 (5,183,320) 112,146 250,882,366
$ 348,511,422 $ 14,339,453 $ 474,081 $ 362,376,794
$ 829,243 $ - $ - $ 829,243
201,978,972 25,971,851 1,585,510 226,365,313
202,808,215 25,971,851 1,585,510 227,194,556
5,207,873 682,355 136,219 5,754,009
104,729,499 2,097,713 - 106,827,212
50,924,514 216,942 - 51,141,456
160,861,886 2,997,010 136,219 163,722,677
3,364,812 182,025 90,244 3,456,593
49,667,187 2,134,685 - 51,801,872
16,590,356 1,719,779 - 18,310,135
69,622,355 4,036,489 90,244 73,568,600
91,239,531 (1,039,479) 45,975 90,154,077
$ 294,047,746 $ 24,932,372 $ 1,631,485 $ 317,348,633
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Depreciation expense was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as follows:

Governmental activities

General government $ 1,169,846
Community development 416,022
Cultural affairs 816,225
Parks and recreation 1,554,464
Public safety 1,645,967
Public works 164,530
Engineering 0
Infrastructure 3,270,904
Total depreciation expense - governmental activities $ 9,037,958

Business type activities

Water and sewer $ 2,302,080
Port Fund 1,734,409
Total depreciation expense - business-type activities $ 4,036,489
Total Depreciation Expense $ 13,074,447

Leased assets
The City is the lessor of certain real property in both its governmental and enterprise funds. The
following is a summary of this leased property:

Business-
Governmental Type
Activities Activities Total
Cost $ 3,357,791 $ 281,642 $ 3,639,433
Accumulated depreciation (258,994) (198,630) (457,624)
Carrying amount $ 3,098,797 $ 83,012 $ 3,181,809
Depreciation expense $ 110,489 $ 11,450 $ 121,939
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G. Short-Term Debt
The schedule below details the changes in short-term borrowings during the year ended
September 30, 2019 for governmental activities:

Balance Balance
Original  Interest October 1, September 30,
Issue Rate 2018 Issues Redemptions 2019
Governmental activities:
Grant Anticipation Note 02/21/17 431% $ 5,251,071 $ - § 2500000 $ 2,751,071
Total short-term capital borrowings $ 5,251,071  $ - $ 2,500,000 $ 2,751,071

The purpose of all of the short-time borrowings was to provide resources for various capital
construction or improvement projects. The form of financing used in all cases was anticipation
receipt of grant funds. The amounts issued for governmental activities are accounted for in the
capital projects fund.

H. Leases

Capital Leases

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012 the City entered into three capital leases with
Hancock Bank to finance the purchase of various equipment. The total purchase amount financed
was $603,200 at the fixed, simple interest rate of 1.99% for five years. Title to the equipment is
held in the name of the City and Hancock Bank as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-
appropriation clause; however, the possibility of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not
include any contingent or purchase option payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the
City’s use of the lighting equipment and the City insures the equipment. The City has accounted
for the lease as a financing arrangement.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 the City entered into a capital lease with The
Peoples Bank to finance the purchase of a fire truck. The total purchase amount financed was
$707,771 at the fixed, simple interest rate of 2.02% for twenty months. Title to the equipment is
held in the name of the City and The Peoples Bank as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-
appropriation clause; however, the possibility of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not
include any contingent or purchase option payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the
City’s use of the equipment and the City insures the equipment. The City has accounted for the
lease as a financing arrangement.

51



City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

Additionally, during the fiscal year ended September 30, 2015 the City entered into a capital lease
with DeLage Landen Public Finance to finance the purchase hardware and software. The total
purchase amount financed was $142,562 at the fixed, simple interest rate of 3.085% for four years.
Title to the hardware and software is held in the name of the City and DeLage Landen Public
Finance, LLC as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-appropriation clause; however, the
possibility of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not include any contingent or purchase
option payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the City’s use of the hardware and
software and the City insures the equipment. The City has accounted for the lease as a financing
arrangement.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 the City entered into a capital lease with The
First to finance a truck mounted pothole patcher and a multi-conductor CCTV inspection system.
The amount financed was $281,642 at the fixed, simple interest rate of 2.04% for five years.
However, the truck mounted pothole patcher was not acquired and a principal payment of
$167,142 was made to The First. Title to the CCTV inspection system is held in the name of The
First as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-appropriation clause; however, the possibility
of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not include any contingent or purchase option
payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the City’s use of the multi-conductor CCTV
inspection system and the City insures the system. The City has accounted for the lease as a
financing arrangement.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2016 the City entered into a capital lease with
Hancock Bank to finance an energy performance project. The amount financed was $1,984,837 at
the fixed, simple interest rate of 2.29% for eleven years. Title to the equipment is held in the name
of the City and Hancock Bank as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-appropriation clause;
however, the possibility of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not include any contingent
or purchase option payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the City’s use of the energy
efficient and conservation equipment and the City insures the equipment. The City has accounted
for the lease as a financing arrangement.

During the fiscal year ended September 30, 2017 the City entered into a capital lease with Key
Government Finance, Inc. to finance equipment. The amount financed was $733,435 at the fixed,
simple interest rate of 2.29% for three years. Title to the equipment is held in the name of the City
and Key Government Finance, Inc. as lien holder. The lease terms include a non-appropriation
clause; however, the possibility of non-appropriation is remote. The lease does not include any
contingent or purchase option payments or penalties. There are no restrictions on the City’s use of
the equipment and the City insures the equipment. The City has accounted for the lease as a
financing arrangement.

52



City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019
(Continued)

The City will make the following lease payments of principal and interest:

Fiscal Year

Ended

September 30, Principal Interest Total
2020 § 306,942 § 49910 § 356,852
2021 314,554 42,298 356,852
2022 322,362 34,490 356,852
2023 330,371 26,481 356,852
2024 204,941 18,265 223,206

2025 & Beyond 643,582 26,036 669,618

Assets acquired through capital leases are:

Business
Governmental Type
Asset Activities Activities
Pothole patcher $ - $ 281,642
Energy performance 1,984,837 -
Phone system & email server 733,435 -
Police equipment 50,400
Fire equipment 589,119 -
Total § 3,357,791 $ 281,642

Future minimum lease payments and the net present value of the lease payments are:

Business
Governmental Type

Year Ended September 30, Activities Activities
2020 $ 356,852 $ -
2021 356,852 -
2022 356,852 -
2023 356,852 -
2024 223,206 -
2025 & Beyond 669,618 -
Total minimum lease payments 2,320,232 -
Less amount representing interest (197,480) -

Present value of minimum lease payments ~ $ 2,122,752  § -




I. Long-Term Debt

City of Biloxi, Mississippi
Notes to the Financial Statements
September 30, 2019

(Continued)

The following is a summary of bond and other long-term debt transactions of the City for the year
ended September 30, 2019:

Governmental activities

General Obligation Bonds
and Notes

Limited Obligation Bonds

Capital leases

Compensated absences

Total governmental
activities

Business-type activities
Water and Sewer, pollution
control loans
Water and Sewer, drinking
water improvement loans
Limited tax port bonds
Compensated absences

Total business-type activities

Amounts

Beginning Ending Due Within
10/01/18 Additions Deletions 9/30/19 One Year

$ 42,885,000 $ 14,000,000 $ 3,685,000 $ 53,200,000 $ 3,410,000
22,498,189 1,418,600 1,715,769 22,201,020 2,011,933
2,639,663 50,400 567,311 2,122,752 307,072
9,933,626 2,384,278 2,082,434 10,235,470 2,558,868

$ 77,956,478 $ 17,853,278 $ 8,050,514 $ 87,759,242 $ 8,287,873
$ 8,929,598 $ - $ 514,850 $ 8,414,748 $ 524,827
872,327 - 52,921 819,406 53,962
7,240,000 - 270,000 6,970,000 280,000
371,999 234,285 182,268 424,016 106,004

$ 17,413,924 § 234,285 $ 1,020,039 $ 16,628,170 $ 964,793

Bonds, notes, and other long-term debt payable at September 30, 2019 are comprised of the
following individual issues:

Governmental Activities

General Obligation Bonds and Notes:

General Obligation Bonds series 2011 due in annual

installments of $380,000 to $1,240,000 through 12/1/2022 $ 9,350,000
General Obligation Bonds, series 2012, due in annual

installments of $355,000 to $505,000 through 4/1/2027

General Obligation Bonds, series 2014, due in annual

installments of $800,000 to $1,140,000 through 1/1/2029
Mississippi Development Bank Special Obligation

Bonds, Series 2014, due in annual installments of
$790,000 to $1,590,000 through 3/13/2034
General Obligation Bonds, series 2017, due in annual

installments of $365,000 to $585,000 through 3/1/2032

General Obligation Bonds, series 2019, due in annual

installments of $490,000 to $980,000 through 9/1/2039

Total General Obligation Bonds and Notes

(Continued)

Amount
Original Range of Outstanding
Issue Interest Rates 9/30/19
2.50%-2.625% $ 1,570,000
6,000,000  2.00%-2.40% 3,585,000
14,000,000 3.00%-4.00% 10,005,000
21,000,000 3.50%-4.75% 17,780,000
7,000,000 5.00% 6,260,000
14,000,000 3.00%-4.00% 14,000,000
$ 53,200,000
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Limited Obligation Bonds and Notes:

Mississippi Development Association Loan, due in annual
Annual Installments of $33,608 through 11/1/2021
Served by City sales tax, payable by Harrison County

Development Commission

Tax Increment Junior Lien Limited Obligation Bonds,
series 2014, due in annual installments of $130,000 to

$145,000 through 4/15/2029

Tax Increment Limited Obligation Refunding Bonds,

series 2016 A, due in annual installments of
$1,350,000 to $2,410,000 through 11/1/2027

Tax Increment Limited Obligation Refunding Bonds,

series 2017, due in annual installments of
$70,959 to $115,585 through 4/1/2029
Tax Increment Limited Obligation Bonds,
series 2019, due in annual installments of
$165,211 to $194,480 through 4/1/2029
Total Limited Obligation Bonds and Notes
Other General Long-Term Debt:
BanLeasing, LLC capital lease, amortized in

annual installments of $126,296 through 9/30/2023

Hancock Bank capital lease, amortized in

annual installments of $111,603 through 9/30/2027

AXON Enterprise, Inc. lease, amortized in

annual installments of $2,800 through 12/1/2022

Metrix Solutions lease, amortized in

annual installments of $4,680 through 1/1/2023
Total Other General Long-Term Debt
Compensated absences
Total governmental long-term debt

Business Type Activities
Water and Sewer Fund
State of Mississippi Pollution Control Loans,
due in varying installments through 7/1/2037

State of Mississippi Drinking Water Improvement Loans,
due in varying installments of $5,788 through 2/15/2033

Biloxi Port Fund
Limited Tax Port Bonds, series A&B due in annual

installments of $260,000 to $520,000 through 8/1/2037

Total business-type activities bonds and notes
Compensated absences
Total business-type activities long-term debt

Amount
Original Range of Outstanding
Issue Interest Rates 9/30/19

500,000 3.00% 87,231
1,995,000 4.07% 1,683,050
21,020,000 2.00-5.00% 18,075,000
1,081,400 5.00% 937,139
1,081,400 5.00% 1,418,600
22,201,020
589,119 3.40% 470,174
1,984,837 2.29% 1,623,178
14,000 11,200
36,400 18,200
2,122,752
10,235,470
$ 87,759,242
11,482,697 1.75%-4.50% $ 8,414,748
1,133,861 1.95% 819,406
7,500,000 3.00-4.00% 6,970,000
16,204,154
424,016
$ 16,628,170
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The annual requirements to pay principal and interest on the bonds, notes and loans outstanding at

September 30, 2019 follow and include interest on the variable rate debt.

Governmental Activities

Business-Type Activities

Port Bonds & Water

Year Ended General Obligation Limited Obligation and Sewer Notes
September 30, Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2020 $ 3,410,000 §$ 1,908,392 $§ 2,011,933 § 989,923 § 858,789 § 392,427
2021 3,510,000 1,805,223 2,108,183 925,923 910,032 372,351
2022 3,630,000 1,698,288 2,182,223 837,152 881,028 353,385
2023 3,735,000 1,585,811 2,248,981 735,372 901,506 334,512
2024 3,455,000 1,468,724 2,356,199 620,377 927,173 32,570
2025-2029 18,210,000 5,353,623 11,293,501 1,242,765 4,982,750 1,237,740
2030-2034 12,710,000 2,221,904 - - 5,085,492 668,440
2035-2039 4,540,000 450,650 - - 1,657,384 190,001
Totals $ 53,200,000 $ 16,492,615 $§ 22,201,020 $ 5,351,512 § 16,204,154 § 3,581,426

The City's legal debt limit for general obligation bonds is as follows:

Assessed valuations 2018 (inside the City):

Real property
Personal property
Public utility

Autos and mobile homes, estimated
Total assessed valuations

Fifteen percent (15%) of total assessed valuation
Less outstanding general issues at 9/30/19
Legal debt margin

$ 465,236,934
73,920,464
35,684,049
60,568,620

$ 635,410,067

$ 95311,510
53,200,000

$ 42,111,510

The City Council annually adopts a resolution providing for the amount of property tax millage
necessary to be levied and collected by the City in the next fiscal year for the payment during such
year of principal and interest on all outstanding general obligation bonds of the City. The millage
rate for the year ended September 30, 2019, was 9.20 mills or $9.20 per $1,000 of assessed value.

Other general long-term debt of the Enterprise Funds is $8,414,748 of pollution control/state
revolving loans and drinking water improvement loans from the State of Mississippi. The State
Tax Commission, in accordance with a signed agreement with the City of Biloxi is currently
deducting $30,310 each month from the sales tax remittances to the City to apply as payments on
these loans.
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J. Retirement Plans

The City of Biloxi participates in two retirement systems administered by the Public Employees’
Retirement System of Mississippi (PERS). Both systems are defined benefit plans and include a
multiemployer, cost-sharing pension plan and an agent multi-employer pension plan as described
below:

1. Firemen's and Policemen's Disability and Relief Plan and
Employee's Disability and Relief Plan

All firemen and policemen hired prior to March 1, 1976, are covered by the Firemen's and
Policemen's Disability and Relief Plan. All other City employees employed prior to February 5,
1975, are covered by the Employees' Disability and Relief Plan. Both the Firemen’s and the
Policemen’s Disability and Relief Plan and the Employee’s Disability and Relief Plan are agent
multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan administered by the Public Employees Retirement
System of Mississippi.

Plan Description

Under the provisions of Chapter No. 511 of the General Laws of the State of Mississippi, 1987,
effective October 1, 1987, the administrative responsibility for these retirement systems was
assigned to the Mississippi Municipal Retirement System, a program of the Public Employees'
Retirement System of Mississippi. The City has no control over the administration of the plans.
PERS issues a publicly available financial report that includes financial statements and required
supplementary information. That information may be obtained from its website, www.pers.ms.gov,
by writing to Public Employees Retirement System, PERS Building, 429 Mississippi Street,
Jackson, MS 39201-1005 or by calling (601)359-3589 or 800-444-PERS.

Contributions

The City is authorized by law to require membership contributions from 1% to a maximum of 10%
of the total compensation of each participating employee. City employee contributions are 9%.
Based upon annual actuarial data provided by PERS, the City levies a tax millage sufficient to
fund the current obligations for retirement payments and also provide the recommended amount to
reduce the balance of the unfunded employer liability. For the year ended September 30,2019 the
combined millage was 2.12 mills. The City is required by statute to set a tax levy sufficient to
fund the annual required contribution. The plan administrator, The Mississippi Municipal
Retirement System, provides actuarial data for the two plans combined. The City’s contributions to
PERS for the years ended September 30, 2019, 2018, and 2017 were $1,330,235, $1,322,827, and
$1,334,261. The employer contributions were made in accordance with contribution requirements
determined by an actuarial valuation of the system as of June 30, 2017. The City accounts for
these closed plans as a single, agent multiple-employer defined benefit plan.
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Current membership in the City's Mississippi Municipal Retirement System is composed of the
following:

Active members -
Retirees and beneficiaries 89
Total 89

Benefits Provided

Participating employees who retire, regardless of age, with at least 20 years of credited service are
entitled to an annual retirement allowance, payable monthly in an amount equal to 50% of their
average monthly compensation plus an additional 1.7% for each year of credited service in excess
of 20 years with a maximum of 66 2/3% of average monthly compensation. Average monthly
compensation is the average for the last 6 months of service. Certain death and disability benefits
are also provided by these plans which are governed by State statute and City ordinances.

Net Pension Liability

The “Net Pension Liability” (NPL) is the difference between the “Total Pension Liability: (TPL)
and the plan’s “Fiduciary Net Position” (FNP). The TPL is the present value of pension benefits
that are allocated to current members due to past service by entry age normal actuarial cost
method. The TPL includes benefits to projected salary and service, and automatic cost of living
adjustments (COLA’s). In addition, ad hoc COLA’s are also included in the TPL to the extent they
are substantively automatic. The FNP is determined on the same basis used by the pension plan.
The City’s net pension liability was measured as of June 30, 2019 and the total pension liability
used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

Net Pension Liability
Measurement date June 30, 2019
Total Pension Liability $ 19,453,740
Fiduciary Net Pension 8,703,246
Net Pension Liability $.10,750,494
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Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability
The change in net pension liability, for the Disability and Relief municipal pension plan, for the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2019 is as follows:

Plan Net Pension
Total Pension  Fiduciary Net Liability
Liability (a)  Position (b) (a)-(b)
Change in Net Pension Liability

Service cost $ - $ - $ -

Interest 1,485,229 - 1,485,229

Changes in bene